

Evaluation of SF XXXX – Coverage for Inherited Metabolic Diseases

Report to the Minnesota Legislature Pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 62J.26

January 28, 2025

Report Prepared By

This report was prepared by the American Institutes for Research (AIR) at the request of the Minnesota Department of Commerce. AIR created this document for internal use by the Minnesota Department of Commerce pursuant to Contract No. 216732. The document assumes reader familiarity with the proposed mandated health benefits currently under consideration by the Minnesota State Legislature. The document was prepared solely to assist the Minnesota Department of Commerce. No other use of this document or the information or conclusions contained herein is authorized. The period of data collection for any policies and literature analyzed for the proposed mandate ended on December 31, 2024.

Defrayal analysis completed by the Minnesota Department of Commerce is independent of AIR's evaluation.

Minnesota Department of Commerce 85 7th Place East St. Paul, MN 55101 651-539-1734 HealthInsurance.DivisionRequests@state.mn.us mn.gov/commerce/

As requested by Minnesota Statute § 3.197: This report cost approximately \$38,743.00 to prepare, including staff time, printing and mailing expenses.

Upon request, this material will be made available in an alternative format such as large print, Braille or audio recording. Printed on recycled paper.

Contents

Executive Summary	
Introduction	
Bill Requirements	
Key Terms	
Associated/Relevant Health Conditions	6
Associated/Relevant Treatment Services	6
Related State and Federal Laws	6
Relevant Federal Laws	
Relevant Minnesota Laws	
State Comparison	
Public Comments Summary	-
Key Stakeholder Comment Themes	
Cost Estimates Provided in Stakeholder Comments	
Evaluation of Proposed Health Benefit Mandate	C
Methodology	
Public Health Impact	
Economic Impact	13
State Fiscal Impact	15
Fiscal Impact Estimate for SEGIP	15
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act Mandate Impact and Analysis	
Fiscal Impact of State Public Programs	15
Appendix A. Bill Text	16
Appendix B. Key Search Terms for Literature Scan	1
Works Cited	19

Executive Summary

If enacted, this proposed mandate would require a health issuer to provide coverage for medically necessary treatment of inherited metabolic diseases, including but not limited to the purchase of medical foods and low protein modified food products.

Inherited metabolic diseases are rare diseases caused by specific gene mutations that affect an individual's ability to break down amino acids, carbohydrates, or fatty acids, resulting in impaired absorption, digestion, and removal of these critical enzymes. While each inherited metabolic disease is independently rare, as a group they are estimated to affect 1 in 1,000 individuals. Dietary treatments are the primary treatment approach across the majority of inherited metabolic diseases. Dietary treatment focuses on altering an individual's diet via medical foods and/or low protein modified food products to remove the nutrient(s) that an individual is unable to metabolize. These foods are often more expensive than typical dietary products, and some individuals report spending over \$500 per month on out-of-pocket expenses related to treatment for an inherited metabolic disease. Over half of individuals with an inherited metabolic disease are covered by Medicaid, and treatments for inherited metabolic diseases are typically covered more generously by insurance for infants and children compared to adults with the same disease.

There are currently no federal laws related to coverage for treatment of inherited metabolic diseases, but multiple state laws require coverage of dietary treatment for enrollees with inherited metabolic diseases when medically necessary. All 50 state Medicaid programs provide some level of coverage for the treatment of inherited metabolic diseases, but this coverage varies as some states cover treatment for specific inherited metabolic diseases or have annual spending caps and age limitations for coverage.

Public comment respondents expressed concern that the proposed mandate language was unclear on which conditions and treatments would be covered. They also noted that there was an overlap in language between this proposed mandate and the nutritional supports bill included in the 2024 health and human services omnibus bill.

Due to the broad scope of the mandate, an actuarial analysis to estimate the potential economic impact of the mandate is not feasible. Given the range of conditions, treatments, and populations covered by the proposed mandate, attempting to select a representative sample of condition and treatment-related codes from the Minnesota All Payer Claims Database may not reflect the actual cost of the proposed mandate.

The potential state fiscal impact of this mandate is as follows:

- There is no estimated cost for the State Employee Group Insurance Program because medically necessary treatment of inherited metabolic diseases is covered in the program's medical benefit package.
- It is unclear if the proposed mandate would be subject to partial defrayal.
- This proposed mandate would apply to Minnesota Health Care Programs (e.g., Medical Assistance and MinnesotaCare) and may have a cost.

Introduction

In accordance with Minn. Stat. § 62J.26, the Minnesota Department of Commerce (Commerce), in consultation with the Minnesota Department of Health (MDH) and Minnesota Management and Budget (MMB), performs an evaluation of benefit mandate proposals. For evaluation criteria and required evaluation components, please review the Evaluation Report Methodology, available at https://mn.gov/commerce/insurance/industry/policy-data-reports/62j-reports/.

Bill Requirements

Senate File (SF) XXXX is sponsored by Senator Bill Lieske. At the time Commerce received the request for evaluation, the bill had not yet been introduced.

This proposed mandate would require a health issuer to provide coverage for medically necessary treatment of inherited metabolic diseases, including but not limited to, the purchase of medical foods and low protein modified food products. Additionally, a health issuer would not be allowed to impose coverage limits beyond what is applicable for other coverage items in the plan (e.g., cost-sharing, utilization review, referral requirement, or delay period).

This proposed mandate would apply to fully insured small and large group commercial health plans, individual market plans, the State Employee Group Insurance Program (SEGIP), and Minnesota Health Care Programs (e.g., Medical Assistance and MinnesotaCare). The mandate would not apply to self-insured employer plans, grandfathered plans, and Medicare supplemental policies.

This bill would create Minn. Stat. § 62Q.536 and amend Minn. Stat. § 256B.0625, by adding a subdivision.

Key Terms

For the purposes of this mandate:

- "Inherited metabolic disease" means a disease caused by an inherited abnormality of body chemistry that affects the individual's metabolism.
- "Low protein modified food product" means a food product that is specially formulated to have less than one gram of protein per serving and is intended to be used under the direction of a physician for the dietary treatment of an inherited metabolic disease. This does not include natural food that is naturally low in protein.
- "Medical food" means a food that is intended for the dietary treatment of a disease or condition for
 which nutritional requirements are established by medical evaluation and is formulated to be consumed
 or administered enterally under direction of a physician.

Associated/Relevant Health Conditions

Inherited metabolic diseases, also known as inborn errors of metabolism, are genetic diseases that impact the body's ability to break down food or substances that are no longer needed. There are hundreds of known inherited metabolic diseases, but some of the most common are:¹

- Galactosemia;
- Gaucher's Disease;
- Homocystinuria (HCU);
- Maple Syrup Urine Disease (MSUD); and
- Phenylketonuria (PKU).

Failure to address inherited metabolic diseases through dietary intervention may result in severe cognitive impairment, malnutrition, bone impairment, and adult psychosis.²

Associated/Relevant Treatment Services

This proposed mandate broadly requires coverage for medically necessary treatment for inherited metabolic diseases, which may include a broad variety of treatments, medications, and procedures.³ However, the mandate explicitly requires coverage for low protein modified food products and medical foods. These foods are designed specifically for individuals with impaired ability to ingest, digest, absorb, or metabolize food and/or specific nutrients.⁴ A modification of diet is typically insufficient to address the nutritional needs of individuals with an inherited metabolic disease. Medical foods are available in age-appropriate formulations to support ongoing nutritional requirements at different life stages for individuals with an inherited metabolic disease. These dietary interventions are designed for specific conditions and require ongoing medical supervision.

Related State and Federal Laws

This section provides an overview of state and federal laws related to the proposed mandate and any external factors that provide context on current policy trends related to this topic.

Relevant Federal Laws

There are no federal laws directly requiring coverage for treatment of inherited metabolic diseases. The Orphan Drug Act of 1983 was enacted to provide incentives and reduce barriers to promote research and development of orphan drugs, which are typically unprofitable novel therapies used to treat rare diseases, including inherited metabolic diseases.⁵ A medical food is defined in the Orphan Drug Act (21 U.S.C. 360ee (b) (3)) as "a food which is formulated to be consumed or administered enterally under the supervision of a physician and which is intended for the specific dietary management of a disease or condition for which distinctive nutritional requirements, based on recognized scientific principles, are established by medical evaluation."⁵

In 2023, the Medical Nutrition Equity Act was introduced in the United States House of Representatives and referred to the Committee on Energy and Commerce.⁶ If passed, this Act would have provided coverage for medically necessary food for inherited metabolic diseases under federal health programs and applicable private health insurance.

Relevant Minnesota Laws

Minn. Stat. § 62Q.451 prohibits issuers from restricting where an enrollee can receive services for the diagnosis, monitoring, and treatment of rare diseases or conditions. Prohibited restrictions include, but are not limited to prior authorization, preauthorization, and increased fees. This statute enables individuals with rare diseases, such as inherited metabolic diseases, to seek specialized care from providers or at treatment centers that may otherwise not be covered.

In accordance with Minn. Stat. § 62A.26, all qualified health plans must cover special dietary treatment for enrollees with PKU when recommended by a physician.⁸ Minn. Stat. § 62Q.531 requires coverage for medically necessary formulas for a variety of conditions including some inherited metabolic diseases.⁹

Minn. Stat. § 256B.0625, subd 32 requires Medical Assistance to cover nutritional products for supplementation due to an individual's inability to properly absorb nutrients and specifically covers nutritional treatments for PKU, hyperlysinemia, and MSUD.¹⁰

State Comparison

Medicaid programs in all 50 states provide some level of coverage for the treatment of inherited metabolic diseases. However, many states limit the spending per year or cap coverage at a certain age. ¹¹ There are currently 30 states with mandates relating to commercial coverage for treatment of inherited metabolic diseases. Of these states with mandates relating to commercial coverage, five states (Alaska¹², California¹³, Missouri¹⁴, North Dakota¹⁵, and Tennessee¹⁶) specify coverage for treatment of PKU only. Eleven states (Arkansas¹⁷, Florida¹⁸, Kentucky¹⁹, Louisiana²⁰, Maine²¹, Nebraska²², Nevada²³, New Hampshire²⁴, New York²⁵, North Dakota¹⁵, and Vermont²⁶) have yearly or monthly spending amount caps ranging from \$1,800 to \$4,000 a year. Eight states (Colorado²⁷, Delaware²⁸, Florida¹⁸, Missouri¹⁴, North Dakota¹⁵, Pennsylvania²⁹, Tennessee¹⁶, and Virginia³⁰) have age limits for coverage ranging from 18-44 years. Four of these states have differing age caps for men and women. These spending and age caps may prevent equitable coverage for many people with an inherited metabolic disease, requiring many individuals to pay out-of-pocket for medically necessary treatment.²

Public Comments Summary

Commerce solicited public input on the potential health benefit mandate through a request for information (RFI) posted to Commerce's website and the Minnesota State Register. The summary below represents only the opinions and input of the individuals and/or organizations who responded to the RFI.

Key Stakeholder Comment Themes

For this proposed mandate, Commerce received RFI responses from four commercial health issuers, one health care organization, and three advocacy organizations.

Clarity of Bill Language. Many respondents flagged concerns with the bill's language and recommended revisions that clarify which conditions and treatments would be covered by the proposed mandate. Respondents noted that the existing lack of clarity in the bill's language could lead to increased premiums for members. Specifically, respondents flagged concerns regarding the potentially broad definition of "inherited metabolic diseases," given that there are hundreds of known inherited metabolic diseases. Also, one respondent flagged that there are access considerations for this condition beyond health plan coverage for treatment, and proposed consideration for transportation support for individuals and families impacted by inherited metabolic diseases.

Overlap with Current Legislation. A few respondents noted the potential overlap of this proposed mandate and other previously enacted legislation. One respondent noted possible duplicative coverage considerations with Minn. Stat. § 62Q.531 which was included in the 2024 health and human services omnibus bill and believes this proposed mandate should be reviewed with this concern in mind.

General Comments. Several respondents highlighted Minnesota's implementation of Minn. Stat. § 62M.07, effective January 1, 2026, which prohibits prior authorization for certain medical conditions, including outpatient mental health or substance use disorder treatment, antineoplastic cancer treatment per National Comprehensive Cancer Network® guidelines (excluding medications), preventive services, pediatric hospice care, neonatal abstinence program treatment by pediatric pain or palliative care specialists, and ongoing chronic condition treatment. The respondent suggested that many of this year's proposed mandates fall under this new statute and expressed concerns that removing prior authorization could increase health care costs and negatively affect health outcomes for Minnesotans.

One respondent noted that all of the proposed health benefit mandates have the potential to broadly improve health outcomes for Minnesotans by enhancing their quality of life, supporting individuals, families, and caregivers, and increasing workforce participation, while also benefiting the broader health care system.

Cost Estimates Provided in Stakeholder Comments

Stakeholders and MMB provided the following cost estimates related to the proposed benefit mandate:

- MMB's health plan administrators expect that this proposed mandate will not have a fiscal impact on SEGIP as inherited metabolic diseases are currently covered under medical and prescription drug benefits (see State Fiscal Impact section).
- Currently, some commercial health plan issuers cover medical food items for inherited metabolic conditions. Respondents noted that costs could increase by less than \$0.65 per member per month (PMPM).

Stakeholders' results may or may not reflect generalizable estimates for the mandate, depending on the methodology, data sources, and assumptions used for analysis.

Evaluation of Proposed Health Benefit Mandate

Methodology

The following section includes an overview of the literature review and actuarial analysis performed to examine the potential public health and economic impact of the mandate. The literature review includes moderate- to high-quality relevant peer-reviewed literature and/or independently conducted research with domestic data that was published within the last 10 years and is related to the public health, economic, or legal impact of the proposed health benefit mandate. For further information on the literature review methodology, please reference https://mn.gov/commerce/insurance/industry/policy-data-reports/62j-reports/.

Public Health Impact

Prevalence and Types of Inherited Metabolic Diseases. Inherited metabolic diseases are caused by specific inherited gene mutations that affect an individual's ability to break down amino acids, carbohydrates, or fatty acids, resulting in impaired absorption, digestion, and removal of these critical enzymes.³¹ Inherited metabolic diseases are considered rare genetic diseases and often grouped in research due to their limited population. The majority of inherited metabolic diseases affect multiple body systems (e.g., digestive system, musculoskeletal system, and central nervous system) which can result in neurological and physical symptoms. Initial symptoms may be absent or minimal, and screening mechanisms are often required to identify inherited metabolic diseases at an early age before the onset of irreversible health consequences. Once identified, inherited metabolic diseases typically require an interdisciplinary approach for management, which may include neurologists, geneticists, dieticians, and experts in metabolism.

There are over 1,000 known inherited metabolic diseases, each with different symptoms, health consequences, and treatment recommendations. While each inherited metabolic disease is independently rare, inherited metabolic diseases as a group are estimated to affect 1 in 1,000 individuals.³² Inherited metabolic diseases are most commonly detected at birth through newborn screening. Some of the most common forms of inherited metabolic diseases are Galactosemia, Gaucher's disease, Homocystinuria (HCU), Maple Syrup Urine Disease (MSUD), and Phenylketonuria (PKU) (see Table 1). PKU is the most prevalent inherited metabolic disease and affects approximately 5.3 to 7.4 newborns per 100,000 births in the United States.^{32,33} Inherited metabolic diseases were originally thought of as pediatric diseases, but with improved understanding and treatments, individuals are living into adulthood.³² As a result, care for inherited metabolic diseases has largely focused on the pediatric population, which leaves adults with gaps in health care.

Table 1. Disease Overview and Treatment for Common Inherited Metabolic Diseases

Inherited Metabolic Disease	Disease Type	Minnesota Newborn Screening ³⁴	Symptoms & Comorbidities	Standard Treatment
Galactosemia ^{32,} 35	Disorder of carbohydrate metabolism: galactose	Yes	Loss of appetite, lethargy, jaundice, enlarged liver, abdominal swelling, delayed growth, cognitive delays, movement disorders, cataracts osteoporosis, and sepsis	Dietary modifications and vitamin supplements (calcium and vitamin D)
Gaucher's Disease ^{32,36}	Lysosomal storage disorder	No	Abdominal pain, bone pain, anemia, bleeding and bruising problems, bone disease, organ enlargement, Parkinson's disease, and cancers	Medications
Homocystinuria 32,37	Disorder of amino acid metabolism: homocysteine	Yes	Intellectual disability, eye problems, joint/ limb pain, stroke, high blood pressure, scoliosis, coagulation disorders, blood clots, and high cholesterol	Dietary modifications, medications, and vitamin supplements (vitamin B and folic acid)
Maple Syrup Urine Disease ^{32,35,36}	Disorder of amino acid metabolism: Leucine, isoleucine, and valine	Yes	Intellectual disability, anxiety, loss of appetite, lethargy, vomiting, acidosis, seizures, coma, pancreatitis, movement disorders, osteoporosis, and brain damage	Dietary modifications, vitamin supplements (vitamin B), and organ transplant
Phenylketonuria 32,37-36	Disorder of amino acid metabolism: phenylalanine	Yes	Intellectual disability, microcephaly, seizures, eczema, skin and hair hypopigmentation, obesity, bone-related abnormalities, renal disease, metabolic dysfunction, and cardiovascular complications	Dietary modifications, medications, and organ cell transplant

Symptoms and Comorbidities. Many inherited metabolic diseases are asymptomatic in newborns, but if left untreated can cause life-threatening complications. Symptoms and associated comorbidities vary by each inherited metabolic disease, but some of the most common include malnutrition, intellectual disabilities, delayed growth, developmental delay or regression, bone impairment, and cardiomyopathy. Adult-onset inherited metabolic diseases typically present with neurological symptoms such as seizures, movement disorders, and psychosis. Additionally, individuals with an inherited metabolic disease experience higher levels of anxiety, depression, and agoraphobia than the general public. Some symptoms, such as severe acidosis or coma, may require complex hospital care. Delayed treatment of inherited metabolic diseases can result in significant morbidity and death.

Newborn Screening. Newborn screening is the primary approach to diagnose most inherited metabolic diseases. These screenings have been shown to be cost-effective in terms of downstream impacts as they can identify

inherited metabolic diseases prior to symptom onset thereby preventing lifelong complications or decreased life expectancy. And MDH implemented a newborn screening program focused on screening for PKU in 1964. Since then, the newborn screening program has expanded to screen for a large variety of disorders, including other inherited metabolic diseases such as Galactosemia, HCU, and MSUD.

Guidelines. Due to the rarity of inherited metabolic diseases, guidelines focus on more common inherited metabolic diseases, such as MSUD and PKU.⁴⁰ For example, the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics has two published guidelines, the first focused on nutrition management for MSUD and a second guideline for diagnosis and medical management of PKU.⁴¹ These guidelines include nutrition management, dietary therapy, and pharmacotherapy. They strongly endorse lifelong treatment to avoid late-onset complications stemming from treatment discontinuation.⁴

Standards of Care. Dietary treatment is the primary treatment option across the majority of inherited metabolic diseases. This treatment is achieved through removing the nutrient that an individual is not able to metabolize from their diet, typically by substituting medical foods and low-protein modified foods to maintain necessary nutrition. These treatments help to maintain normal growth and development from infancy into adulthood.³⁴ Medical foods are designed for individuals with limited or fully impaired ability to ingest, digest, absorb, or metabolize ordinary food or nutrients and are used to manage the specific nutrient needs of an individual with an inherited metabolic disease as determined by a medical professional.⁴ Medical foods are highly individualized based on an individual's tolerance to the nutrient their body cannot metabolize, stage of development, and clinical needs. 35 Medical foods are introduced when dietary management of a disease cannot be accomplished through normal diet modifications.³⁸ Depending on an individual's needs, medical foods may provide all the nutritional components required for their diet, or medical foods may need to be paired with medications or vitamins. Medical foods can come in a variety of forms, including powders, ready-to-drink products, capsules, and bars. Low-protein modified foods are manufactured to have low protein levels, as protein is a common nutrient that cannot be metabolized in individuals with some inherited metabolic diseases. These are designed to provide the necessary energy, satiety, and variety of diet for individuals with an inherited metabolic disease and can include specially modified flour, cereals, substitutes, pasta, and rice. Some inherited metabolic diseases can be treated with widely available products (e.g., galactosemia is treated in newborns with conventional formulas that use sucrose instead of lactose) while others require medical foods. Additionally, other specialized nutritional products, such as high doses of vitamins and amino acids, are used in the management of inherited metabolic diseases.²

In addition to dietary treatment, individuals must carefully monitor their nutrition levels to ensure that they are meeting their nutritional needs. This requires acute attention to nutritional intake, measurements of biochemical markers, and growth monitoring.³⁵ For many inherited metabolic diseases, routine weight monitoring and counseling is needed to reduce incidence of negative outcomes, such as obesity. As an individual ages, this typically becomes easier to manage but continued follow-up with a health care provider is recommended so that diet adjustments can be appropriately conducted in accordance with age and growth, and ongoing education can be provided.

Adherence for nutritional treatment for inherited metabolic diseases is typically highest at birth and then steadily decreases with age.³³ For PKU, adherence rates are estimated to be around 23% for individuals aged 25

to 45.³⁹ This lack of adherence can be due to a range of reasons, including palatability of treatment options, cost, complexity of treatment, and caregiver burden.³⁶ As cost and coverage are associated with adherence, the proposed coverage may reduce this barrier for recommended treatment.

Non-Dietary Treatments. Some individuals with an inherited metabolic disease may utilize non-dietary treatment, either in addition to dietary treatment or on its own. Sapropterin dihydrochloride, a medication meant to supplement dietary restriction, is a common treatment addition for individuals with PKU that can cause a two to three-fold increase in protein tolerance.³⁶ Organ, organ cell, or stem cell transplantation is used to treat some inherited metabolic diseases, such as liver cell transplantation for PKU and liver transplantation for MSUD.^{36,42} This treatment plays a role in the increased number of pediatric liver transplants in the United States, with a sixfold increase in liver transplants for inherited metabolic diseases from 1987 to 2014.⁴² Additionally, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation has been used to treat inherited metabolic diseases with neurologic presentation and is the standard of care for children with severe mucopolysaccharidoses who are younger than two years and have minimal cognitive impairment.³⁶

In 2019, the FDA approved pegvaliase, a novel enzyme substitution therapy, for treatment of adults with PKU.³⁸ Substrate reduction therapy, which is an upstream approach to block the buildup of toxic substances in the body, is a technique to decrease substrate levels and their accumulation for individuals with an inherited metabolic disease.³⁶ Treatment for Gaucher's disease includes enzyme replacement therapy, which involves periodic infusions of the deficient enzyme to patients with eligible inherited metabolic diseases.³⁶ Additionally, there are several gene therapies for inherited metabolic diseases that are currently being tested in clinical trials, most notably those for PKU.⁴³ The trend in utilization rates of non-dietary treatments compared to dietary treatments is unknown, as well as the potential impact of the proposed coverage on treatment decisions.

Health Equity. The cost and accessibility of treatments may adversely impact adults with an inherited metabolic disease. Some research has indicated that the average health care provider is underprepared to clinically treat patients with an inherited metabolic disease. Approximately 74% of providers rated themselves as "somewhat or very poor" in their knowledge of inherited metabolic diseases and nearly 80% felt they required more training on treatments for inherited metabolic diseases.³² These findings highlight the importance of coordination of care, provider education and clinical practice guidelines.⁴⁰

There is a disproportionate number of specialized health care providers for adults living with inherited metabolic diseases compared to children. Of the primary specialty for board certified geneticists in the United States, 80% were either pediatricians or obstetrician/ gynecologists.³² The lack of clinicians focused on treating adults with inherited metabolic diseases is a gap in care that may lead to significant proportions of the adult population being untreated or undertreated,⁴ which can lead to poor health outcomes and hospitalization. Additionally, there are no guidelines focused on transitioning inherited metabolic disease treatment from the pediatric to the adult population.

Coverage provided by this proposed mandate may reduce cost-associated barriers that may be partially responsible for the reduced treatment levels in the adult population with an inherited metabolic disease. However, the specific impact of the proposed coverage on health disparities for individuals with an inherited metabolic disease is unknown from the current body of evidence.

Economic Impact

Utilization of Treatments. Individuals that require treatment through medical foods or low protein modified foods receive these in a variety of ways. Medical foods are most commonly obtained at pharmacies, hospitals or clinics, health departments, and medical supply companies. Low protein modified foods are most commonly obtained through online sources, health food stores, and manufacturer websites. In many cases, prior authorization is required by a pharmacy, company, or manufacturer in order to demonstrate supervision by a medical provider. Of note, individuals with an inherited metabolic disease often require multiple types of nutrient-related treatment, which can vary in terms of coverage and location of access.

Of individuals with inherited metabolic diseases, approximately 84% use medical foods, 59% use low-protein modified foods, and 50% use vitamin supplements for their treatment.² Many individuals with inherited metabolic diseases use multiple dietary products to ensure they are meeting their nutritional needs.³⁸ If the proposed health benefit mandate were passed, utilization of medically necessary dietary and non-dietary treatments may increase due to the extended coverage for all treatment modalities for inherited metabolic diseases and the removal of cost-sharing implications.

Coverage for Treatments. Coverage for medical foods varies greatly depending on individual state policies, types of medical food and low protein modified food products, and insurance status. Some states pay for and provide medical foods via their newborn screening programs, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), or Women, Infant, Children (WIC) programs.⁴ This form of coverage may have age limitations and therefore does not cover treatment for all adolescents and adults living with an inherited metabolic disease. The majority of individuals living with an inherited metabolic disease are covered by Medicaid, followed closely by commercial insurance.² However, approximately a quarter of individuals living with an inherited metabolic disease reported having multiple sources of coverage to ensure that all of their treatments receive at least some coverage.² Coverage for inherited metabolic disease treatment can vary for both commercial and Medicaid programs depending on diagnosis, age, sex, nutritional content of medical food, and the method of administration (e.g., orally or through a feeding tube).^{4,38} Treatment for inherited metabolic diseases are covered at a higher rate for infants and children compared to adults with the same disease.⁴ Medical foods are more often covered by insurance than low protein modified foods, which can lead to gaps in coverage and out-of-pocket (OOP) expenses for enrollees.

Cost and insurance reimbursement are some of the biggest barriers in access to medically necessary treatments for inherited metabolic diseases.³⁹ Many individuals report paying OOP expenses for all treatment modalities for inherited metabolic diseases.² OOP expenses per month ranged from \$0 to over \$500, with low protein modified foods having the highest rate of OOP expenses.

Treatment Costs. The annual cost of dietary treatment for an individual with an inherited metabolic disease can range from \$2,254 for an infant up to \$25,000 for adults, compared to their counterparts without an inherited metabolic disease. An overall health care costs vary by inherited metabolic disease, but are estimated to cost upwards of \$2,570 per month across all individuals with an inherited metabolic disease. These costs vary by individual and their specific needs for treatment and dosage, and do not include costs related to emergency care

or hospitalization. Costs of treatment typically increase with age, and prices for inherited metabolic disease related products for children are almost twice that of infant formulas.

Compared to standard formulas, prepared formulas that make up the majority of medical foods for inherited metabolic diseases are more expensive, and prices can increase further depending on the rarity of the inherited metabolic disease. PKU is the most common inherited metabolic disease and the medical foods formulated for treatment of PKU are the lowest cost among all inherited metabolic diseases. In 2017, an infant formula to treat PKU cost \$33 per can while a comparable infant formula that was not a medical food cost \$16 per can, nearly 50% less than the PKU formula. Similarly, low protein modified foods can cost two to eight times more than unmodified foods. Individuals with PKU may also use sapropterin dihydrochloride, a medication meant to supplement dietary restriction, in addition to dietary modification, which can cost approximately \$50,000 to \$120,000 annually without insurance. 33

In addition to costs of treatment, other factors that impact overall costs attributed to inherited metabolic diseases include loss of parental income due to caregiving needs, lost days at school or work, increased medical costs related to delayed or limited treatment of inherited metabolic diseases, and hospital and emergency department expenses.^{4,32}

Limitations

Due to the rare nature of these diseases, data is often collected from surveys or cohorts with small numbers of participants, which can bias conclusions. ⁴⁰ There is limited literature related to inherited metabolic disease prevalence, costs, and utilization from the United States compared to other countries. Additionally, few studies include adults with an inherited metabolic disease, despite evidence suggesting it is more difficult for adults to access appropriate care for their condition than for children. ² There are many inherited metabolic diseases and due to their rare nature, it is difficult to discuss all the types. Because of this, some of the more common inherited metabolic diseases, especially PKU, are highlighted, as there is more relevant literature on standards of care or cost estimates for these inherited metabolic diseases. Estimates for all inherited metabolic diseases can range widely depending on a variety of factors.

The language in the proposed health benefit mandate requires coverage for all medically necessary treatment of inherited metabolic diseases, which is not limited to medical foods and low protein modified foods. This review focused on these two treatments as they are explicitly stated in the mandate, but this coverage could include other modalities of treatment such as medications or gene therapy.

Data Limitations

Due to the broad scope of the mandate, an actuarial analysis to estimate the potential economic impact of the mandate is not feasible. Given the range of conditions, treatments, and populations covered by the proposed mandate, attempting to select a representative sample of condition and treatment-related codes from the Minnesota All Payer Claims Database may not reflect the actual cost of the proposed mandate. Additionally, as many inherited metabolic diseases are exceptionally rare, and current coverage varies, there may be an insufficient number of claims in the Minnesota All Payer Claims Database per year to support a robust analysis.

State Fiscal Impact

The potential state fiscal impact of this proposed mandate includes the estimated cost to SEGIP as assessed by MMB in consultation with health plan administrators, the cost of defrayal of benefit mandates as understood under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA), and the potential impact to Minnesota Health Care Programs.

- This proposed mandate is estimated to have no fiscal impact on SEGIP.
- It is unclear if the proposed mandate would be subject to partial defrayal.
- This proposed mandate would apply to Minnesota Health Care Programs (e.g., Medical Assistance and MinnesotaCare) and may have a cost.

Fiscal Impact Estimate for SEGIP

MMB does not estimate any fiscal impact to SEGIP from this proposed mandate. The Advantage Plan covers medically necessary treatment of inherited metabolic diseases under the medical and prescription drug benefits. MMB assumes that the current treatments for inherited metabolic diseases are not more restrictive than other coverage by the Advantage Plan medical or prescription drug benefits.

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act Mandate Impact and Analysis

States may require qualified health plan issuers to cover benefits in addition to the 10 essential health benefits defined by the ACA but must defray the costs, either through payments to individual enrollees or directly to issuers, and can partially defray the costs of proposed mandates if some of the care, treatment, or services are already covered in the state's benchmark plan or mandated by federal law, pursuant to section 1311(d)(3)(b) of the ACA. For further defrayal requirements and methodology, please visit https://mn.gov/commerce/insurance/industry/policy-data-reports/62j-reports/.

If enacted, it is unclear if SF XXXX would constitute an additional benefit mandate requiring partial defrayal, relating to any new requirements for specific care, treatment, or services that are not already covered by Minnesota's benchmark plan. Given the broad range of services and conditions potentially covered by the proposed mandate, and overlap with existing coverage requirements in the Minnesota EHB Benchmark plan,⁴⁴ it cannot be determined whether any of the services required by the proposed mandate would require defrayal.

Fiscal Impact of State Public Programs

This proposed mandate would apply to Minnesota Health Care Programs (e.g., Medical Assistance and MinnesotaCare) and may have a cost. Medical Assistance and MinnesotaCare already cover medically necessary nutritional products, but may not cover all required services given the broad requirements of the mandate. However, a fiscal estimate has not yet been completed.

Appendix A. Bill Text

Section 1. [62Q.536] COVERAGE OF INHERITED METABOLIC DISEASES.

Subdivision 1. **Definition.**

- (a) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions apply.
- (b) "Inherited metabolic disease" means a disease caused by an inherited abnormality of body chemistry that affects the individual's metabolism.
- (c) "Low protein modified food product" means a food product that is specially formulated to have less than one gram of protein per serving and is intended to be used under the direction of a physician for the dietary treatment of an inherited metabolic disease. The term low protein modified food product does not include a natural food that is naturally low in protein.
- (d) "Medical food" means a food that is intended for the dietary treatment of a disease or condition for which nutritional requirements are established by medical evaluation and is formulated to be consumed or administered enterally under direction of a physician.
- Subd. 2. **Required coverage.** All health plans must cover medically necessary treatment of inherited metabolic diseases, including but not limited to the purchase of medical foods and low protein modified food products.
- Subd. 3. **Coverage limitations.** A health plan must not impose on the coverage under this section any limitation, including but not limited to any cost-sharing, utilization review, prior authorization, referral requirements, restrictions, or delays, that is not generally applicable to other coverages under the plan.
- Sec. 2. Minnesota Statutes 2022, section 256B.0625, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 72. Inherited metabolic diseases.

- (a) Medical assistance covers medically necessary treatment for inherited metabolic diseases, including but not limited to the purchase of medical foods and low protein modified food products. Medical assistance must meet the requirements that would otherwise apply to a health plan under section 62Q.536.
- (b) For the purposes of this subdivision, the terms "inherited metabolic disease," "low protein modified food product," and "medical food" have the meaning given them in section 62Q.536.

Appendix B. Key Search Terms for Literature Scan

Amino acid metabolism	
Amino acid-based formula	
Carbohydrate metabolism	
Diet therapy	
Dietary supplements	
Enzyme replacements	
Fabry disease	
Galactosemia	
Gaucher's disease	
Glucose supplements	
Inborn errors of metabolism	
Infants, newborns	
Inherited metabolic disease	
Insulin treatment	
Low protein modified food product	
Malabsorption	
Medical food	
Metabolic testing	
Micronutrients	
Phenylketonuria	

Works Cited

- 1. All Other Inherited Metabolic Disease. Division of Medical Genetics. Accessed November 26, 2024. https://med.stanford.edu/medicalgenetics/Metabolicdisease/othermetabolic.html
- 2. Berry SA, Kenney MK, Harris KB, et al. Insurance coverage of medical foods for treatment of inherited metabolic disorders. *Genet Med.* 2013;15(12):978-982. doi:10.1038/gim.2013.46
- 3. Cleveland Clinic. Inborn errors of metabolism. Accessed November 26, 2024. https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/diseases/17962-inherited-metabolic-disorders
- 4. Berry SA, Brown CS, Greene C, et al. Medical foods for inborn errors of metabolism: history, current status, and critical need. *Pediatrics*.2020;145(3):e20192261. doi:10.1542/peds.2019-2261
- 5. Orphan Drug Act, 21 U.S.C. § 316. 1992. https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-21/part-316
- 6. Congress.gov. H.R.6892— Medical Nutrition Equity Act of 2023. December 22, 2023. Accessed October 30, 2024. https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/6892/text
- 7. Office of the Revisor of Statutes. Unrestricted Access to Services for the Diagnosis, Monitoring, and Treatment of Rare Diseases, § 62Q.451. https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/cite/62Q.451
- 8. Minnesota Legislature, Office of the Revisor of Statutes. 2024 Minnesota Statutes. Sec. 62A.26 Coverage for phenylketonuria treatment. Accessed November 1, 2024. https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/cite/62A.26
- 9. Minnesota Legislature, Office of the Revisor of Statutes. 2024 Minnesota Statutes. Sec. 62Q.53. Accessed December 30, 2024. https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/cite/62Q.531
- 10. Minnesota Legislature, Office of the Revisor of Statutes. 2024 Minnesota Statutes. Sec. 256B.0625. Accessed November 5, 2024. https://www.revisor.mn.gov/statutes/cite/256B.0625
- 11. Wilson K, Charmchi P, Dworetzky B. State statutes& regulations on dietary treatment of disorders identified through newborn screening. November 1, 2024. Accessed October 30, 2024. https://www.ciswh.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/State-Statues-and-Leg-re-Dietary-Treatment Updated-7.24.17.pdf
- 12. Alaska Legal Resource Center. Alaska Statutes. AS21.42.380. Coverage for treatment of phenylketonuria. Accessed November 1,2024.

https://www.touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/Statutes/Title21/Chapter42/Section380.htm

- 13. California State Legislature. Health and Safety Code 1374.56. Accessed November 1, 2024. https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=HSC§ionNum=1374.56
- 14. Missouri Revisor of Statues. Title XXIV: Business and Financial Institutions, Chapter.376.1219. PKU formula and low protein modified food products covered by insurance, when--exceptions. August 28, 2002. Accessed November 1, 2024. https://revisor.mo.gov/main/OneSection.aspx?section=376.1219&bid=20939

- 15. North Dakota Legislative Assembly. North Dakota Administrative Code. Chapter 75-03-35. Provision of medical food and low-protein modified food products to individuals with phenylketonuria and maple syrupurine disease. November 1, 2002. Accessed November 1, 2024. https://ndlegis.gov/prod/acdata/pdf/75-03-35.pdf
- 16. Justia. 2023 Tennessee Code: Title 56—Insurance (§§56-1-101—56-61-125): Chapter 7—Policies and policyholders 33 | 373 (§§56-7-NEW—56-7-3722): Part 25—Mandated insurer or plan options (§§56-7-2501—56-7-2508): Section 56-7-2505—Phenylketonuria (PKU). Accessed November 4, 2024. https://law.justia.com/codes/tennessee/title-56/chapter-7/part-25/section-56-7-2505/
- 17. Justia. Arkansas Code of 1987 (2023): Title23—Public utilities and regulated industries (§§ 23-1-101—23-119-105):Subtitle 3—Insurance (§§ 23-60-101—23-103-417): Chapter 79—Insurance policies generally (§§ 23-79-101—23-79-2802): Subchapter 7—Tax credits for medically necessary foods (§§ 23-79-701—23-79-703): Section 23-79-702—Tax credit for medically necessary medical foods and low protein modified food products. Accessed November 4, 2024. https://law.justia.com/codes/arkansas/title-23/subtitle-3/chapter-79/subchapter-1/
- 18. Florida Legislature. The 2024 Florida Statues. Title XXXVII: Insurance, Chapter 627: Insurance Rates and Contracts. 627.42395.Coverage for certain prescriptions and nonprescription enteral formulas. Accessed November 1, 2024.
- http://www.leg.state.fl.us/STATUTeS/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=0600-0699/0627/Sections/0627.42395.html
- 19. Kentucky General Assembly. Kentucky Statues.304.17A-258. Coverage under health benefit plan for therapeutic food, formulas, supplements, low-protein modified food products, and amino acid-based elemental formula. Accessed November 1, 2024. https://apps.legislature.ky.gov/law/statutes/statute.aspx?id=45441
- 20. Louisiana State Legislature. Louisiana Statues. RS22:246. Accessed November 1, 2024. https://www.legis.la.gov/legis/Law.aspx?d=506420
- 21. Maine Legislature. Title 24-A: Maine Insurance Code, Chapter 33: Health Insurance Contracts, §2745-D: Medical food coverage for inborn error of metabolism. Accessed November 1, 2024. https://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/24-a/title24-Asec2745-D.html
- 22. Nebraska Legislature. Nebraska Revised Statute71-250. Food supplement and treatment services program; authorized; fees. Accessed November 1, 2024. https://nebraskalegislature.gov/laws/statutes.php?statute=71-520
- 23. Justia. 2023 Nevada Revised Statutes: Chapter689A—Individual Health Insurance: NRS 689A.0423 -— Coverage for treatment of certain inherited metabolic diseases required. Accessed November 4, 2024. https://law.justia.com/codes/nevada/chapter-689a/statute-689a-0423/
- 24. Justia. 2022 New Hampshire Revised Statutes: Title XXXVII—Insurance: Title 420-A—Health service corporations: Section420-A:17—Coverage for nonprescription enteral formulas. Accessed November 4,2024. https://law.justia.com/codes/new-hampshire/2022/title-xxxvii/title-420-a/section-420-a-17/
- 25.NY State Senate Bill 2017-S8924. Accessed December 10, 2024. https://www.nysenate.gov/legislation/bills/2017/S8924

- 26. Justia. 2009 Vermont Code: Title 08—Banking and insurance: Chapter 107—Health Insurance (Contains: §§ 4061 4100h), §4089e—Treatment of inherited metabolic diseases. Accessed November 4, 2024. https://law.justia.com/codes/vermont/2009/title-08/chapter-107/4089e/
- 27. Justia. 2017 Colorado Revised Statutes: Title10—Insurance, Health care coverage, Article 16—Health care coverage, Part1—General provisions:, § 10-16-104, Mandatory coverage provisions—definitions—rules. Accessed November 4, 2024. https://law.justia.com/codes/colorado/2017/title-10/health-care-coverage/article-16/part-1/section-10-16-104/
- 28. Justia. 2015 Delaware Code: Title 18—Insurance Code, Chapter 35: Group and blanket health insurance, Subchapter III Provisions applicable to group and blanket health insurance, § 3571 Phenylketonuria (PKU)and other inherited metabolic diseases. Accessed November 4, 2024. https://law.justia.com/codes/delaware/2015/title-18/chapter-35/subchapter-iii/section-3571/
- 29. Pennsylvania General Assembly. Medical Foods Insurance Coverage Act. P.L. 1492, No. 191 Cl. 40. December 20, 1996. Accessed November 11, 2024. https://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/US/HTM/1996/0/0191..HTM?67
- 30. Legislative Information System. Virginia Law, Administrative Code. 12VAC5-71-160. Availability of assistance for obtaining metabolic formula, low protein modified foods, and metabolic supplements. Accessed November 1, 2024. https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title12/agency5/chapter71/section160/
- 31. Ebrahimi-Fakhari D, Van Karnebeek C, Münchau A. Movement disorders in treatable inborn errors of metabolism. *Mov Disord*.2019;34(5):598-613. doi:10.1002/mds.27568
- 32. De Castro M, Turner C, Kirmse B, Ferreira C. Practical recommendations for the transition to adulthood for the adolescent with a genetic diagnosis. Special emphasis on inborn errors of metabolism. *Transl Sci Rare Dis*. 2019;4(3-4):159-168. doi:10.3233/TRD-190042
- 33. Chen HF, Rose AM, Waisbren S, Ahmad A, Prosser LA. Newborn screening and treatment of phenylketonuria: projected health outcomes and cost-effectiveness. *Child Basel Switz*. 2021;8(5):381.doi:10.3390/children8050381
- 34. Minnesota Department of Health. Newborn screening panel and timeline. February 26, 2024. Accessed November 4, 2024.

https://www.health.state.mn.us/people/newbornscreening/program/newbornscreeningpanel.html

- 35. Boyer SW, Barclay LJ, Burrage LC. Inherited metabolic disorders: aspects of chronic nutrition management. *Nutr ClinPract*. 2015;30(4):502-510. doi:10.1177/0884533615586201
- 36. Breilyn MS, Wasserstein MP. Established and emerging treatments for patients with inborn errors of metabolism. *NeoReviews*.2020;21(10):e699-e707. doi:10.1542/neo.21-10-e699
- 37. Sellos-Moura M, Glavin F, Lapidus D, Evans K, Lew CR, Irwin DE. Prevalence, characteristics, and costs of diagnosed homocystinuria, elevated homocysteine, and phenylketonuria in the United States: a retrospective claims-based comparison. *BMC Health Serv Res*.2020;20(1):183. doi:10.1186/s12913-020-5054-5

- 38. Bradford L Therrell J, Lloyd-Puryear MA, Camp KM, Mann MY. Inborn errors of metabolism identified via newborn screening: ten-year incidence data and costs of nutritional interventions for research agendaplanning. *Mol Genet Metab*. 2014;113(0):14.doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2014.07.009
- 39. Singh RH, Cunningham AC, Mofidi S, et al. Updated, web-based nutrition management guideline for PKU: An evidence and consensus based approach. *Mol Genet Metab*. 2016;118(2):72-83.doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2016.04.008
- 40. Rahman S, Patterson M, Peters V, Morava E, ZschockeJ, Baumgartner M. Guidelines in the JIMD: Evidence-based practice for inherited metabolic disease. *J Inherit Metab Dis.*. 2023 Jul;46(4):537-38.doi: 10.1002/jimd.12620. doi:10.1002/jimd.12620
- 41. Vockley J, Andersson HC, Antshel KM, et al. Phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency: diagnosis and management guideline. *Genet Med.* 2014;16(2):188-200. doi:10.1038/gim.2013.157
- 42. Arnold GL. Inborn errors of metabolism in the 21stcentury: past to present. *Ann Transl Med.* 2018;6(24):467-467.doi:10.21037/atm.2018.11.36
- 43. Martinez M, Harding CO, Schwank G, Thöny B. State-of-the-art 2023 on gene therapy for phenylketonuria. *J Inherit MetabDis*. 2024;47(1):80-92. doi:10.1002/jimd.12651
- 44. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Minnesota EHB Benchmark Plan (2025-2027). Accessed November 4, 2024. https://www.cms.gov/files/document/mn-bmp-summary-py2025-2027.pdf
- 45.Minnesota Department of Human Services. Minnesota Health Care Programs Provider Manual. Equipment and Supplies Nutritional Products and Related Supplies. Accessed December 30, 2024. https://www.dhs.state.mn.us/main/idcplg?ldcService=GET_DYNAMIC_CONVERSION&RevisionSelectionMethod=LatestReleased&dDocName=DHS16_145320#enteral